S214430

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

HAMID RASHIDI,

NOV 5 - 2013

Plaintiff, Respondent and Cross-Appellant,

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

VS.

Deouty

FRANKLIN MOSER, M.D.,

Defendant, Appellant and Cross-Respondent.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 4, CASE NO. B237476 SUPERIOR CASE NO. BC392082

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BALABAN & SPIELBERGER, LLP

DANIEL BALABAN, BAR NO. 243652 ANDREW J. SPIELBERGER, BAR NO. 120231 11999 SAN VICENTE BOULEVARD, SUITE 345

Los Angeles, California 90049

TELEPHONE: (424) 832-7677

ESNER, CHANG & BOYER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether Civil Code section 3333.2's cap on non economic "damages" allows a non settling defendant to reduce his liability below that section's \$250,000 cap by offsetting the portion of a pretrial settlement which is attributable to non economic damages even though (1) monies voluntarily paid pursuant to a settlement are not "damages" and therefore are not included within the express terms of section 3333.2's cap and (2) non economic damages are not joint and several in nature and therefore a non settling defendant is not entitled to an offset for the portion of a settlement attributable to non economic damages?
- 2. Whether Civil Code section 3333.2 cap on non economic damages is unconstitutional (1) because it deprives a plaintiff of his right to have the jury determine the amount of damages to which he is entitled and (2) because there is no rational basis for limiting a plaintiff to the same \$250,000 amount that existed when section 3333.2 was first enacted in 1975 even though, due to inflation, a victim of malpractice in 2013 is limited to recovering approximately 1/4 of what the same plaintiff suffering the same injuries would have been able to recover in 1975?

INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW IS WARRANTED

This petition raises two issues of critical import in this state and which readily meet the standard contained in California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(a) for review by this Court. Plaintiff Hamid Rashidi must suffer through the rest of his life blind in one eye as a result of the malpractice of Dr. Moser. The jury found that plaintiff suffered \$331,250 in past noneconomic damages and \$993,750 in future noneconomic damages.

Nevertheless, based upon Civil Code section 3333.2, these amounts awarded were reduced to a total of \$250,000. That was bad enough. However, in its published opinion, the Court of Appeal concluded that plaintiff's non economic damages should be reduced even further to \$16,655 (a small fraction of what the jury found he was injured) because plaintiff had entered into a pre trial settlement with another health care provider.

According to the Court of Appeal, because section 3333.2 caps a plaintiff's non economic "damages" at \$250,000, that is the most the victim of malpractice can recover by settlement or verdict, even though non economic damages are not joint and several in nature and therefore there is ordinarily no offset based upon an earlier settlement. The Court erred.

As this Court (and other courts) have recognized, the word "damages" means an amount that was awarded by a court or jury. It therefore does not include an amount voluntarily paid as part of a settlement. Thus, by its express terms, when section 3333.2 limits non economic "damages" to \$250,000 it does not apply to amounts paid as a result

of a settlement. Indeed, under the Court of Appeal's analysis, a settlement under which a health care provider voluntarily pays more than \$250,000 would be invalid because it exceeds the cap contained in section 3333.2. Yet, there is nothing in the history, language or purpose of section 3333.2 that indicates the Legislature intended to restrict the ability of health care providers to pay whatever amount they deem appropriate in settlement of an action.

Further, under the Court's analysis, a defendant such as Dr. Moser is actually rewarded for not settling in direct contravention of the strong policy of this state to encourage settlements. Once one defendant settles and pays most or all of the \$250,000 cap on non economic damages, the remaining defendants will know that even if they lose at trial, their liability for non economic damages will be significantly limited – even below the \$250,000 cap. This will reduce any incentive they have to settle.

Finally, the Court's analysis contravenes Civil Code section 1431.2 which expressly provides that non economic damages are not joint and several in nature. If that is the case then there is no basis why defendants such as Dr. Moser should nevertheless be entitled to offset non economic damages paid by other tortfeasors in settlement.

The second issue raised in this petition concerns the constitutionality of Section 3333.2. That section was enacted by the Legislature in 1975 in response to a supposed medical malpractice insurance crisis. That section's \$250,000 limit on all noneconomic damages applies, regardless of how grievous the injuries the defendant inflicted upon the plaintiff.

More than thirty-five years later, time and inflation have eroded the real dollar value of that limit on compensation. Section 3333.2 violates the fundamental constitutional right to jury trial under the California Constitution by supplanting the jury's verdict based on the evidence in the case with a legislative judgment made in 1975.

Additionally, the statute violates the equal protection clauses of the California and United States Constitutions, as applied to plaintiff. As explained, the clear trend of cases from other states find similar restrictions on recovery to be unconstitutional. This Court should now follow this trend and conclude that section 3333.2 is unconstitutional and that the jury's verdict for noneconomic damages should be reinstated.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Plaintiff Hamid Rashidi underwent an embolization procedure to stop a nose bleed. Under this procedure an artery is selected and a catheter is inserted into that artery in the thigh and up into the nose, Embospheres, which are in the nature of glue pellets, are then shot through the catheter to block the artery and stop the bleed. Once the artery is blocked, the procedure is irreversible. (RT 367-369, 694, 1323-1324, 1522, 1534-1544.)

Sometimes there is an artery that connects between that major artery in the nose and the eye. If that connection is present and visible on the angiogram it is a contraindication and the procedure either needs to be halted or larger sized particles need to be used so that they won't travel to the eye. Here the Dr. Moser failed to observe that

this artery existed, allowing particles to travel to the eye. As a result of this plaintiff, is now blind in his right eye. (RT 370-372, 275, 388-389, 395-396.)

At the time of the procedure the Plaintiff was 26 years old. He was a 49% shareholder in a lighting company earning approximately \$1.5 Million per year before the surgery. (See RT 903, 970.) The malpractice caused plaintiff 30% net loss of vision, his eye is now disfigured in that it drifts noticeably to the right, he has a loss of self esteem, confidence, is depressed, and fears losing his other eye so he no longer travels, plays sports etc. (RT 1012-1013, see RT 665, 711-712.)

The jury found for plaintiff on his medical negligence claim and awarded \$331,250 for past noneconomic, \$993,750 for future noneconomic damages, and \$125,000 present cash value for future eye surgeries. (AA 99-100.) As a result of application of MICRA's cap on noneconomic damages (Civil Code section 3333.2), plaintiff's noneconomic damages were from \$1,325,000 to \$250,000 (a \$1,075,000 reduction). (AA 100.)

Dr. Moser argued that there should be an offset based upon two pre trial settlements that were found by the trial court to be in good faith. The first settlement was with Cedars Sinai Hospital for \$350,000 and the second settlement was with Biosphere Medical (which Dr. Moser acknowledged was a non medical malpractice defendant) for \$2 million. (AA 68.) In support of its request, Dr. Moser argued that he was entitled to an offset as to noneconomic damages based upon the settlement with Cedars because under Civil Code section 3333.2 plaintiff could only recover \$250,000 in noneconomic

damages. (AA 90.) He urged that the settlement with Biosphere completely offset the economic damages awarded by the jury. (AA 91.) Accordingly, Dr. Moser claimed that there should be a judgment for \$16,690 in noneconomic damages. (AA 94.)

Plaintiff opposed Dr. Moser's offset request arguing that Dr. Moser was not entitled to any offset as to the noneconomic damages award. (AA 63.)

The trial court denied an offset. Dr. Moser appealed and plaintiff cross appealed arguing that Civil Code section 3333.2's cap on non economic damages was unconstitutional. In its published opinion, the Court of Appeal ruled, among other things, that (1) even though, because of section 3333.2, plaintiff's award of non economic damages was already reduced from \$1,325,000 to \$250,000, that award should be further reduced to \$16,655 because plaintiff had entered into a pretrial settlement with another medical provider and (2) section 3333.2 was not unconstitutional and did not deprive plaintiff of his right to have the jury calculate the amount of his damages or violate his equal protection rights.

Plaintiff now petitions this Court for review.

ARGUMENT

I. MICRA's \$250,000 Cap on Noneconomic "Damages" Does Not Entitle a non Settling Defendant to Reduce its Proportionate Share of Noneconomic Damages by Way of Offset Even Though Those Damages Are Not Joint and Several.

The Court of Appeal held that under Civil Code section 3333.2's \$250,000 cap on non economic damages, defendant Dr. Moser is entitled to an offset for that portion of plaintiff's pretrial settlement with Cedars Hospital which was attributable to non economic damages. The Court recognized that in a non medical malpractice case there would be no such offset because defendants (such as Dr. Moser and Cedars) are not jointly liable for non economic damages due to the operation of Civil Code section 1431.2. However, the Court in this case concluded that section 3333.2 operated to serve

¹Under Code of Civil Procedure § 877, a non-settling defendant is entitled where there is a settlement "given in good faith before verdict or judgment to one or more of a number of tortfeasors claimed to be liable for the same tort. . . ." This section has been interpreted to allow an offset for only that portion of a settlement attributable to those damages for which the settling defendant and the non settling defendant are jointly and severally liable. (See *McComber v. Wells* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 512, 516; *Poire v. C.L. Peck/Jones Brothers Construction Corp.* (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 1832, 1837.)

Under California's Proposition 51, passed in 1986, a tort defendant has no joint liability for noneconomic damages. (Civ. Code, § 1431.2.) A nonsettling codefendant who sustains a money judgment is solely responsible for his share of noneconomic damages as assessed by the jury; to subject noneconomic damages to a setoff would effectively treat settlement money as if it were paid under a joint liability system.

as an absolute cap to the recovery of non economic damages in the action by way of settlement of judgment. The Court reasoned:

"Since \$233,345 from Cedars-Sinai is attributable to noneconomic damages, he could recover only an additional \$16,655 from Dr. Moser for noneconomic damages. This is consistent with the way MICRA has phrased its damages cap: "In no action shall the amount of damages for noneconomic losses exceed two hundred fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000)."

(Slip opinion 8.)

With respect, neither the text or purpose of section 3333.2 warrants the result that was reached. First, the text of section 3333.2 specifically references a cap on "damages." It is the use of the particular word, as it is generally understood that "provide[] the most reliable indicator of legislative intent.' [Citation.]" (*Bernard v. Foley* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 794, 804.)

As this Court has recognized in other contexts "the term 'damages" in its "full context" and in its "ordinary and popular sense" is limited to "money ordered by a court." (See *Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's of London v. Superior Court* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 945, 961-963; see also *Walnut Creek Manor v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 245, 263 [Since "[g]eneral compensatory damages for emotional distress . . . are not pecuniarily measurable, defy a fixed rule of quantification, and are awarded without proof of pecuniary loss" the award of these types of damages is purely a judicial

⁽Espinoza v. Machonga (1992) 9 Cal. App. 4th 268, 276.)

function.]; *Hoch v. Allied-Signal, Inc.* (1994) 24 Cal.App.4th 48, 67-68 ["[S]ettlement dollars are not the same as damages. Settlement dollars represent a contractual estimate of the value of the settling tortfeasor's liability and may be more or less than the proportionate share of the plaintiff[']s damages."]; *Torres v. Xomox Corp.* (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1, 37 [same].)

The fact that the Legislature used the word "damages" in section 3333.2 gains even greater significance in view of the fact that, when the Legislature specifically described settlement offsets in Code of Civil Procedure section 877, it did not use "damages." Rather, in that section the Legislature clearly stated that a settlement which is found to be in good faith "shall not discharge any other such party from liability unless its terms so provide, but it shall reduce the claims against the others in the amount stipulated by the release, the dismissal or the covenant, or in the amount of the consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater." This language reflects that it knows full well how to phrase a statute to specifically articulate that a settlement will operate to reduce the plaintiff's ultimate recovery at trial. The fact that the Legislature did not include such language in section 3333.2 signifies that the legislature did not intend that result. (See Campbell v. Zolin (1995) 33 Cal. App. 4th 489, 497 ["Ordinarily, where the Legislature uses a different word or phrase in one part of a statute than it does in other sections or in a similar statute concerning a related subject, it must be presumed that the Legislature intended a different meaning."]; Romano v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2005) 128 Cal.App.4th 1333, 1343 [same].)

This result is further supported by the fact that there is absolutely nothing in the text or the history of section 3333.2 suggesting that the Legislature intended to impose a limit on what a medical malpractice defendant could voluntarily pay in settlement of an action. In other words, if a medical defendant voluntarily pays \$260,000 in settlement of a claim for non economic damages, section 3333.2 will not prevent a court from approving or enforcing that settlement. Not one case since the enactment of section 3333.2 in 1975 has concluded that a settling defendant cannot pay more than \$250,000 attributable to non economic damages in settlement of a claim.

In this case, the jury found that Dr. Moser was entirely responsible for the \$1,325,000 plaintiff suffered. However, and entirely as a result of Civil Code section 3333.2, there was a \$1,075,000 reduction in that award so that before the issue of offset is even reached, plaintiff can recover only \$250,000 of the noneconomic damages the jury found that he suffered. This statutory reduction does not mean that plaintiff did not suffer these damages in their entirety. As explained in *McAdory v. Rogers* (1989) 215 Cal.App.3d 1273, a medical malpractice plaintiff can suffer more than \$250,000 in noneconomic damages. "Section 3333.2 does not cause those noneconomic damages Ms. McAdory suffered in excess of \$250,000 to vanish." (*Id.* at p. 1278; see also *Atkins v. Strayhorn* (1990) 223 Cal.App.3d 1380, 1392-1393 [agreeing with *McAdory*].)

Rather, section 3333.2 simply was intended to limit the amount a medical defendant was involuntarily required to pay as a result of the non economic damages inflicted on a plaintiff as a result of medical negligence. If, as the Court of Appeal held,

the non settling defendant is nevertheless entitled to further reduce the \$250,000 the jury found he was liable for, as a result of a pretrial settlement, then that rule will have the perverse effect of actually discouraging pre trial settlements.

If a defendant knows it could ride on the coat tails of another defendant's settlement and thereby effectively escape most if not all of its potential liability for non economic damages under section 3333.2's cap, then this may blunt any incentive a defendant has to also settle. This would subvert the "strong public policy of this state to encourage the voluntary settlement of litigation." (Osumi v. Sutton (2007) 151

Cal.App.4th 1355, 1359; accord, Casa de Valley View Owner's Assn. v. Stevenson (1985) 167 Cal.App.3d 1182, 1190 ["public policy of this state supports pretrial settlement of lawsuits and enforcement of judicially supervised settlements"].)

In nevertheless concluding that Dr. Moser could reduce his liability for the \$1,325,000 in non economic damages the jury found that plaintiff suffered from \$250,000 (the cap under section 3333.2) to \$16,665 (as a result of an offset because of the Cedar's settlement), the Court of Appeal reasoned:

"To the extent a specific statute is inconsistent with a general statute potentially covering the same subject matter, the specific statute must be read as an exception to the more general statute." (Salazar v. Eastin (1995) 9 Cal.4th 836, 857.) While section 1431.2 protects any joint tortfeasor from paying more than its proportionate share of noneconomic damages, MICRA prohibits a plaintiff from recovering more than \$250,000 for noneconomic damages from all healthcare providers in the

same action. MICRA does not distinguish between settlement dollars and judgments; it addresses a plaintiff's total recovery for noneconomic losses. Since MICRA, with its absolute limit on the total recovery of noneconomic damages from health care providers, is the more specific statute, we read it as an exception to the more general limitation on liability in section 1431.2.

(Slip Opinion 9.)

There are several flaws with the Court's analysis. First, the principle that a specific statute controls over a general statute only applies after it is determined that the specific statute actually clashes with the general statute. Here, as already described no such clash exists. Section 3333.2 by its terms only limits the recovery of "damages" and does not serve to cap the amount paid in settlement.

Second, even if there were a clash between section 3333.2 and Civil Code section 1431.2, it is not as clear as the Court of Appeal depicts which statute is general and which statute is specific. The issue here is precisely the amount of offset to which Dr. Moser is entitled as a result of plaintiff's earlier settlement with Cedars Hospital. Viewed from this perspective, section 1431.2, which specifically deals with non economic damages not being joint and several in nature, is more specific than section 3333.2 which deals with the recovery of non economic damages in medical malpractice actions generally. Thus, even if this Court were to conclude that the two sections clash, then it should conclude that section 1431.2 is the more specific section and therefore controls as a result of the legal principle relied upon the Court of Appeal.

Simply put, plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court grant review to rule that section 3333.2 at most allows a non settling defendant to escape liability for those non economic damages he had tortiously inflicted which are above \$250,000. It does not also allow him to obtain an even greater reduction due to the fact that there was a pre trial settlement with another tortfeasor, a portion of which is attributable to non economic damages. Rather, and just as with every other tort action, since non economic damages are not joint and several in nature there is no right to obtain an offset based upon the portion of a pre trial settlement attributable to them.

II. The Time Has Now Come for this Court to Expressly Consider and Rule That Section 333.2 (1) Violates a Plaintiff's Jury Trial Rights by Redetermining the Amount of non Economic Damages Awarded by the Jury and (2) Violates Equal Protection by Arbitrarily Allowing a 1975 Medical Malpractice Plaintiff to Recover \$250,000 While Limiting a Present Day Plaintiff to Recovery of the Equivalent of \$58,581.67 in 1975 Dollars.

In the Court below, plaintiff argued that section 3333.2's \$250,000 cap on non economic damages violated plaintiff's right to a jury trial, violated the equal protection clauses of the California and the United States Constitutions and was a violation of separation of powers. The Court of Appeal, in summary fashion, rejected these arguments largely echoing the analysis by the Courts of Appeal in *Yates v. Pollock* (1987).

194 Cal.App.3d 195 and Stinnett v. Tam (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 1412, which concluded that this Court's opinions in American Bank & Trust Co. v. Community Hospital (1984) 36 Cal.3d 359, 368-369 and Fein v. Perminente Medical Group (1985) 38 Cal.3d 137, 158, disposed of these constitutional challenges. This is a misnomer that should now be corrected by this Court.

Neither American Bank nor Fein addressed the constitutional challenges plaintiff has raised (or for that matter the challenges that were raised by the plaintiff in Yates or Stinnett). As explained, just the opposite is true. If anything, this Court's previous opinions serve to support rather than undermine these challenges. Plaintiff will start with his jury trial challenge.

A. Section 3333.3's \$250,000 cap violates a plaintiff's constitutional right to a jury trial.²

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