NOV 2 5 2013

IN THE

Supreme Court of the State of California

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

HAMID RASHIDI,

Plaintiff, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant,

VS.

FRANKLIN MOSER, M.D.,

Defendant, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent.

After a Decision By the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Four Case No. B237476

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

REBACK, MCANDREWS, KJAR, WARFORD & STOCKALPER, LLP

ROBERT C. REBACK, SBN 58092 1230 Rosecrans Avenue, Suite 450 Manhattan Beach, CA 90266 Tel: (415) 288-9800

Tel: (415) 288-9800 Fax: (415) 288-9801 COLE PEDROZA LLP CURTIS A. COLE, SBN 52288 KENNETH R. PEDROZA, SBN 184906 200 S. Los Robles Avenue, Suite 300 Pasadena, CA 91101

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

Plaintiff invokes California's "inviolate right" to jury trial (at Pet. for Rev., p. 14), but ignores Anglo-American legal history as it relates to the method of trial. Many, if not most, state constitutions include the word "inviolate" in their provisions relating to the right to

² In support of his argument, plaintiff cites *People v. One 1941 Chevrolet Coupe* (1951) 37 Cal.2d 283 (Pet. for Rev., pp. 14, 16), but that decision is inapplicable to this case for precisely the reason that there was no jury trial in that case and there was a jury trial in this case.

jury trial because the original American colonies and then the other states responded to the law of England, where the Anglo-American method of trial by jury began. In England, there was no guarantee of that method of trial. It was not "inviolate." For that matter, there still is no constitutional requirement of the jury method of trial in England. Parliament has been free to abolish jury trial. As a result, the only civil jury trials in England are held for a specific limited group of cases: fraud, libel, slander, malicious prosecution, and false imprisonment. All other civil cases are tried to judges. (Lloyd-Bostock & Thomas, Decline of the "Little Parliament:" Juries and Jury Reform in England and Wales (Spring 1999) 62 Law & Contemp. Probs. 7, 13.)

In the United States, on the other hand, civil cases can be tried to juries, which is to say that that method of trial is "inviolate." But that is not to say that the substantive outcome of trial, each of the jury's factual determinations, is "inviolate." The outcome of jury trial – in particular, the judgment – must conform to the law, including the law of damages, regardless of what the jury may think the judgment ultimately will be. That includes Civil Code section 3333.2.

More to the point, had the framers of the California Constitution intended to limit the Legislature's power to modify the measure of damages in a common law case, they certainly could, and would, have said so. (See, e.g., Wyo. Const., art. X, § 4, subd. (a ["No law shall be enacted limiting the amount of damages to be recovered for causing the injury or death of any person"]; Ariz. Const., art. II, § 31 ["No law shall be enacted in this state limiting the amount of damages to be recovered for causing the death or injury of

any person"]; Ky. Const., § 54 ["The General Assembly shall have no power to limit the amount to be recovered for injuries resulting in death, or for injuries to person or property"].)

3. Civil Code section 3333.2 is a policy decision – set forth in a statute – that limits the legal consequences of the jury's finding of damages but does not infringe upon the jury's right to decide the factual questions relating to damages

Civil Code section 3333.2 is a policy decision that noneconomic damages will not exceed \$250,000 in any given case. Although the statutory limitation is applied after the jury's determination, the statute does not constitute a *reexamination* of the factual question of damages. It is not, as plaintiff argues, a "legislative revision of the jury's assessment of damages[.]" (Pet. for Rev., p. 20.) Rather, it is a modification of the legal effect of the factual resolution. It does not infringe upon the jury's right to decide. The jury is still allowed to act as the fact-finder.

The statute simply limits the legal consequences of the jury's finding. Many jurisdictions view their statutes in that same way. (See, e.g., Kirkland v. Blaine County Medical Center (Idaho 2000) 4 P.3d 1115, 1120; Etheridge v. Medical Center Hospitals (Va. 1989) 376 S.E.2d 525; Franklin v. Mazda Motor Corp. (D.Md. 1989) 704 F.Supp. 1325.)

The California Legislature merely set the legal parameters applicable to the jury's noneconomic damages calculation. The

Legislature did not interfere with the constitutional right to a jury's factual finding as to the amount of damages suffered.

4. Plaintiff essentially argues that there is no role for the law in regard to damages

Plaintiff begrudgingly admits that Civil Code section 3333.2 might be characterized "as a legislative attempt to define the 'legal' import of the jury's factual determination of necessary compensatory damages" (Pet. for Rev., p. 20), but nevertheless argues that the California Constitution requires that the dollar amount of the noneconomic damages that a trial court orders a defendant to pay must equal the dollar amount of noneconomic detriment that a jury finds the plaintiff to have sustained. To that end, plaintiff urges this Court to interpret the California Constitution to say that the Legislature is prohibited from enacting any statute that limits the amount of compensatory damages that will be awarded by a court. Plaintiff's analysis is wrong, for at least three reasons.

First, plaintiff ignores the law of tort damages, *i.e.*, the "species of relief" that are provided by the law, specifically, by the California Civil Code. (See Civ. Code, §§ 3274, 3281-3282.) The Civil Code defines the "measure of damages." One example is Section 3333.2, at issue here. Plaintiff focuses myopically on the jury's role in the process. Plaintiff's unstated assumption is that the law has no role in the decision-making process as it relates to the issue of damages. However, it has been true at least since 1872 that "compensation is the relief or remedy provided by the law of this State for the

violation of private rights[] " (Civ. Code, § 3274, emphasis added.) That general statement is followed by the specific statement of the law regarding "Compensatory Relief," commencing with Civil Code section 3281: "Every person who suffers detriment from the unlawful act or omission of another, may recover from the person in fault a compensation therefor in money, which is called damages." "Detriment" is defined in Section 3282, as "a loss or harm suffered in person or property." The Legislature authorized "Damages for Wrongs" in Section 3333: "For the breach of an obligation not arising from contract, the measure of damages, except where otherwise expressly provided by this code, is the amount which will compensate for all the detriment proximately caused thereby, whether it could have been anticipated or not."

Second, plaintiff ignores the law of remedies. An award of monetary damages is a "remedy" rather than a question of fact or even a substantive question of law. Remedies can be either monetary or non-monetary. That is, remedies can be "at law" or "in equity." Either way, however, remedies are fashioned by the judge, according to the applicable law. That is true even though the remedies are based upon factual determinations that are made by jurors. That is why statutes that relate to remedies do not deprive the parties of their right to jury trial. While the right to the method of trial by jury is preserved, the right to recover a specific amount of damages is not. The constitutional state and federal guarantees apply to the right to

jury trial, not to the remedy that follows jury trial.³ That explains why the common law never recognized a right to full recovery in tort. (*Duke Power Co. v. Carolina Environmental Study Group, Inc.* (1978) 438 U.S. 59, 88, fn. 32 [98 S.Ct. 2620, 2638, fn. 32].)

Third, plaintiff ignores the role of the judge, who applies the law. As explained by this Court in the decision that plaintiff cites (at Pet. for Rev., p. 18), *Jehl v. Southern Pac. Co.* (1967) 66 Cal.2d 821, 831, fn. 12, the modern view of the relationship between the judge and the jury is "to promote economy and efficiency in judicial proceedings." The goal is to preserve "the essentials of the right to jury trial without shackling modern procedure to outmoded precedents." (*Jehl, supra*, 66 Cal.2d at 831-832.) The noneconomic damages limitation of Section 3333.2 does just that.

5. There are many other jurisdictions in which the courts have rejected the jury trial argument made by plaintiff here

The out-of-state cases on which plaintiff relies (Pet. for Rev., p. 21) are not compelling. Plaintiff does not even touch upon the numerous decisions of courts in sister states which reject the right to jury trial arguments nearly identical to those made by plaintiff in this case. (See *Judd v. Drezga* (Utah 2004) 103 P.3d 135, 144; *Etheridge v. Medical Center Hospitals, supra*, 376 S.E.2d at 529; *Gourley v. Nebraska Methodist Health System, Inc.* (Neb. 2003) 663 N.W.2d 43, 75; *Kirkland v. Blaine County Medical Center, supra*, 4 P.3d at 1120;

³ That also explains why the constitutional guarantee of the right to jury trial does not require that juries decide equitable remedies.

Evans ex rel. Kutch v. State (Alaska 2002) 56 P.3d 1046, 1051; Robinson v. Charleston Area Medical Center, Inc. (W.Va. 1991) 414 S.E.2d 877, 885; Phillips v. Mirac, Inc. (Mich. 2004) 658 N.W.2d 174, 190; Edmonds v. Murphy (Md.Ct.App. 1990) 573 A.2d 853, 859.)

Numerous federal cases have held that similar damages caps do not violate the Seventh Amendment right to jury trial. (See Hemmings v. Tidyman's Inc. (9th Cir. 2002) 285 F.3d 1174, 1202; Madison v. IBP, Inc. (8th Cir. 2001) 257 F.3d 780, 804, judg. vacated and cause remanded for further consideration in light of National R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgan (2002) 536 U.S. 101 [122 S.Ct. 2061]; Davis v. Omitowoju (3d Cir. 1989) 883 F.2d 1155, 1159-1165; Boyd v. Bulala (4th Cir. 1984) 877 F.2d 1191, 1196; Franklin v. Mazda Motor Corp., supra, 704 F.Supp. at 1330-1335.)

This substantial line of cases rejecting arguments such as plaintiff's argument in this case is persuasive, and it is in line with California jurisprudence. As noted by the Utah Supreme Court in *Judd v. Drezga, supra*, 103 P.3d at 144-145,

[I]t is the jury's duty to determine the amount of damages a plaintiff in fact sustained, but it is up to the court to conform the jury's findings to the applicable law....
[T]he damage cap does not violate [a plaintiff's] right to a jury trial because it allows the jury to determine the facts in the first instance, before requiring the court to apply relevant law to the jury's verdict.

(Citation omitted.) Or, as stated by the Virginia Supreme Court in Etheridge v. Medical Center Hospitals, supra, 376 S.E.2d at 529, "although a party has the right to have a jury assess his damages, he has no right to have a jury dictate through an award the legal consequences of its assessment."

6. Plaintiff cites Seffert v. Los Angeles Transit
Lines but ignores the observation that Justice
Traynor made in his dissenting opinion and
that Justice Kaus subsequently quoted in Fein
v. Permanente Medical Group

Plaintiff quotes Seffert v. Los Angeles Transit Lines (1961) 56 Cal.2d 498: "[T]he amount of damages is a fact question, first committed to the discretion of the jury and next to the discretion of the trial judge on a motion for new trial." (Pet. for Rev., p. 15, quoting Seffert, supra, 56 Cal.2d at 506.) Plaintiff's point, apparently, is that, regarding damages, the discretion of the jury and the discretion of the trial judge is unlimited, such that any statute that limits the discretion of the jury and the trial judge is a "legislative override." (Pet. for Rev., p. 16.) That would mean, however, that many, if not most, statutes relating to damages would be improper limits on that discretion.

That also would mean that the Legislature did not have the power to address the recurring problem in the courts of excessive awards of noneconomic damages, which power the Legislature must have if it is to serve its role in our constitutional system of checks and balances. As Justice Traynor pointed out in his dissenting opinion in

Seffert v. Los Angeles Transit Lines, supra, 56 Cal.2d at 509-514, to which two other justices concurred, although there has been "forceful criticism" of pain and suffering damages, it is up to the Legislature to reexamine such damages. (*Id.* at 511 (dis. opn. of Traynor, J.).) It was just such a legislative reexamination that led to the enactment of Civil Code section 3333.2.

Even more importantly, Justice Traynor's statement was quoted by Justice Kaus in his opinion for the majority in *Fein v. Permanente Medical Group, supra,* 38 Cal.3d 137. Justice Kaus underscored Justice Traynor's observation that "any change in this regard must await reexamination of the problem by the Legislature." (Fein, supra, 38 Cal.3d at 160, fn. 16, original italics.) The Fein Court explained that the Legislature confined the damages limitation to noneconomic damages – the court found no authority precluding such a legislative limitation. (Fein, supra, 38 Cal.3d at 159-160.) That statement by Justice Kaus was quoted by the Court of Appeal in Yates v. Pollock, supra, 194 Cal.App.3d at 200.

B. The Court of Appeal Correctly Held That Civil Code Section 3333.2 Does Not Violate Equal Protection

Plaintiff's equal protection / inflation argument (at Pet. for Rev., pp. 24-29) fails, as well, if only for the reasons given by the Court of Appeal (at Slip Opn., pp. 10-11). As the court stated in Stinnett v. Tam, supra, 198 Cal.App.4th at 1432, when it rejected the equal protection / inflation argument in that case: "[t]he statute does not address purchasing power; instead, it addresses the maximum

dollar amount of noneconomic damages a plaintiff may recover in an action against a health care provider based on professional negligence, which is the same amount for every such plaintiff."

Plaintiff's inflation argument also should be rejected because the Legislature specifically considered and rejected the idea of inflation indexing. As noted by one commentator,

> As the bill progressed through the State Senate Judiciary Committee Senate. consultant and later legislative counsel Bion Gregory suggested indexing the noneconomic damages cap. [Fn. 81.] However, this suggestion was disregarded because the plaintiff lawyers' lobby would not support the idea. [Fn. 82.] Ironically, some of the representatives of the trial bar thought indexing the cap would improve the bill's overall chance for passage and increase the likelihood of the Governor signing it. [Fn. 83.] As a result, they withheld their support of the indexed cap in order to try to kill the bill altogether. [Fn. 84.]

(Edwards, Recent Development: Medical Malpractice Non-Economic Damages Caps (2006) 43 Harv. J. on Legis. 213, 224, fns. 81-84 citing CAPP News (Californians Allied For Patient Protection, Sacramento, Cal.), Perspectives: An Interview With MICRA Author Barry Keene (Aug. 8, 2005 p. 3.)

More recently, the Legislature specifically considered and rejected the idea of indexing the damages cap. (Assem. Com. on Judiciary, Medical Injury Compensation Reform Act of 1975: Hearing on Assem. Bill No. 1380 (1999–2000 Reg. Sess.) May 24,

1999, p. 10. Assembly Bill 1380 (1999–2000 Reg. Sess.) would have indexed the MICRA cap annually to the Consumer Price Index, but the bill was rejected. The Legislature also rejected another bill (Assem. Bill No. 250 (1997–1998 Reg. Sess) May 13, 1997), which would have repealed the noneconomic damages limitation of MICRA altogether.

Plaintiff argues that "[j]ust because the Legislature considered but then rejected indexing the \$250,000 cap to inflation (as was argued below) is not dispositive" (Pet. for Rev., p. 28), but this Court should reject plaintiff's invitation to do what the Legislature chose not to do. It is an invitation to do what the judicial branch is not constitutionally permitted or equipped to do – to evaluate the wisdom of legislation. The United States Supreme Court made this point clear: "it is up to legislatures, not courts, to decide on the wisdom and utility of legislation." (Minnesota v. Clover Leaf Creamery Co. (1981) 449 U.S. 456, 469 [101 S.Ct. 715], internal citation and quotation marks omitted.) Where the evidence is "at least debatable," the court would err in "substituting its judgment for that of the legislature." (Ibid., internal citation and quotation marks omitted.)

CONCLUSION

It is not necessary for this Court to review either of the "Issues Presented" by plaintiff. The petition should be denied.